
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 4:17 AM 
To: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 

 
Hi [Redacted] – I have an update.  I’ll try giving you a call now.  [Redacted] 
 
From: [Redacted] *  
Sent: 06 December 2023 09:41 
To: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 

 
I lost the connection – let me try calling you on another line. 
 
From: [Redacted] *  
Sent: 06 December 2023 09:37 
To: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk>; David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; 
[Redacted] (External) <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 

 
Hi [Redacted] 
 
Of course – do you mean morning in China (if so, I’m available to call all morning) or in Scotland (it 
would need to be before 0900 or after 1030)? 
 
I can call you if you confirm a time.  Otherwise, my numbers are: 
 
Landline - [Redacted]  
Mobile - [Redacted] 
 
Thanks 
 
[Redacted] 
 
 
From: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 06 December 2023 07:55 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; 
[Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] (External) <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 

 
Hi [Redacted] 
  
Sorry for the short notice, are you available for a call this morning please? We are experiencing an 
issue and looking for some quick assistance if possible. My mobile is below if you are available. 
  
Many thanks 
  
[Redacted] 
  
[Redacted] 



  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Monday, December 4, 2023 10:16 AM 
To: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] (External) 
<[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Great – many thanks for the update.   
  
[Redacted] 
  
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 04 December 2023 17:44 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] (External) 
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
  
Good morning 
The pandas have loaded and are currently on the way to the airport.  
  
Thanks 
  
David 
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

0131 314 0304   dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

 

  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 29, 2023 1:43 AM 
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
Subject: Re: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Hi David 

  
Many thanks for the update. Great that [Redacted] is able to travel. [Redacted] - just let us know if 

you need any support from us.). 



  
We just finished the visit late last night and the team is making its way back to Beijing from 

Shanghai today.  

  
I could do a call before 0800 on Thurs 30 Nov, if that isn't too late; or after 1000 the same day? 

But if more urgent let me know. I'll check this a/c later today to pick up any message.  

  
[Redacted] 

  
Sent from Outlook for iOS 

 
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 28, 2023 5:41:14 PM 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot <[Redacted]@gov.scot>; 
[Redacted] (External) <[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@rzss.org.uk> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout  
  
Hi [Redacted] et al 
  
All is still progressing well for the move next week. 
  
Our [Redacted] colleague [Redacted] is travelling over and [Redacted] you met [Redacted] 
previously.  [Redacted] will forward his itinerary for your information. 
Could someone give me a call at some point just to cover a couple pf points with CWCA – not urgent 
though. My mobile is [Redacted] 
  
David  
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

0131 314 0304   dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 24, 2023 3:14 AM 
To: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] (External) 
<[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Thanks David – hope it’s a positive development. 
  
CWCA can see us on Friday 2pm.  Grateful for any updates before then.  Maybe a quick call your 
Thursday morning? 



  
[Redacted] 
  
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 23 October 2023 22:55 
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
  
Dear all 
I have just received some communication form Edinburgh Airport which I am seeking clarification on. 
No word yet from CWCA – so we may be still on for original date. 
I will confirm. 
David 
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

[Redacted] dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

  
  
From: David Field  
Sent: Friday, October 20, 2023 10:10 AM 
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
  
No contact from CWCA – so any help would be appreciated. 
  
David 
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

[Redacted] dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 17, 2023 7:04 AM 
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
  
Great – I’ve put a Teams call in the diary.  I’ve given us 30 mins, but no worries if we only use a few 
minutes.  If any issue with Teams, will switch to your mobile.   Speak soon, [Redacted] 
  
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 17 October 2023 13:58 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] (External) 
<[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: Re: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Morning 

9.30 would be ideal. 

I can do teams or my mobile is [Redacted] 

It should only take a few minutes  to advise you. 

David 

  
Sent from Outlook for iOS 

 
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk> 
Sent: Tuesday, October 17, 2023 2:34:36 AM 
To: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot <[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted] 
(External) <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot <[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
<[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout  
  
Hi David 
  
I can call at either your 0830 or 0930 today?  Let me know if either works.  If you have access to 
Teams, other members could join.  If not, I’ll just call your mobile and update others after.  
  
Since we last spoke, there have been some staff changes in SG covering China.  Copying in: 

-          [Redacted] – the new China Desk Officer (recently started, taking over from [Redacted]); 
and  

-         [Redacted] – comms lead (covering as [Redacted]has moved to another role temporarily) 
  
Many thanks 
 
[Redacted]  
  
[Redacted]  [Redacted] 
Head of the Scottish Government Office in China 
  



British Embassy I 11 Guanghua Lu I Beijing 100600 China 
Tel: [Redacted] I  Fax: (+86 10) 5192 4239 FTN: [Redacted] I Mobile[Redacted] 
Follow us on  Weibo微博  

 
  
  
  
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 16 October 2023 18:43 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: RE: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Dear all 
Some issues have arisen with the return of the pandas which I would like to advise you on.  
Could I have a quick call on this please. 
  
My mobile  is [Redacted] 
  
Thanks 
  
David 
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

[Redacted] dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

  
  
From: David Field  
Sent: Tuesday, September 5, 2023 8:53 AM 
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
  
Thank you sounds like a useful meeting. 
  
Kind regards 
  
David 
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

[Redacted] dfield@rzss.org.uk 



THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 5, 2023 8:36 AM 
To: [Redacted]@gov.scot; David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: CWCA Meeting, 5 September - Readout 
  
Hi [Redacted] and [Redacted] 
  
On 5 September, Anjing and I called on CWCA (China Wildlife Conservation Association).   
  
We met: 

•       [Redacted], Secretary General, CWCA 
•       [Redacted], Deputy Secretary General, CWCA 

•       Officials from the Department of Wildlife Conservation & Department of International 
Cooperation, National Forestry and Grassland Administration 

  
We covered introductions, that we were re-establishing SGO contact in person ahead of the pandas’ 
return, and welcomed the dedication of teams in RZSS and CWCA in support of the pandas and 
conservation/ research.  Yang Guang and Tian Tian had had an incredible impact by inspiring millions 
of people to care about nature.  There were benefits through research, education and increasing 
understanding of conservation and also culture.   CWCA provided a recap of the last 12 years, 
welcomed their friendship and partnership with RZSS and the Zoo’s good care of the pandas.    
  
We noted that CWCA and RZSS were in regular contact about arrangements for the pandas’ 
return.  As SGO in China, we stood by to help if needed.  CWCA shared the latest, with some details 
to be finalised; and noted RZSS’s 4 September announcement that the pandas would return in 
December [note: on 5 September, we issued a shorter update on SGO’s Weibo account drawing on 
this].   
  
We recognised the current focus was on the pandas’ safe return and settling in.   After their return, 
we hoped there could be continued communication.  The public in Scotland/ UK would be very 
interested in their journey and progress; and the benefits to research, conservation and 
education.  We were open to CWCA’s advice, including if we wanted to hold a reception in China to 
mark their return.  CWCA noted the ongoing interest including from the public, and on 
conservation.  They would be happy to share information and for us to further promote 
conservation efforts.  They explained the return process, including 30 days’ quarantine with minimal 
contact except for professionals/ keepers (including from Edinburgh).    They would issue a notice on 
their return, after 30 days, and thereafter videos/ news of the pandas to the public.   They would 
consider our idea of a reception, though suggested this should be after quarantine; and hoped we 
could also visit Sichuan after this time.  
  
In addition, [Redacted] highlighted CWCA’s work on conservation since it was founded in 1983 (this 
year it’s their 40th anniversary), including on pandas and national parks; the benefits of exchanges 
including deepening the links between China and Scotland (and the UK); and that the BBC had been 
in touch with him the previous week about making a documentary about wildlife in China.  
  



We agreed to stay in touch.  I will also share a note of this meeting with relevant Embassy 
colleagues. 
  
Many thanks 
 
[Redacted] 
  
[Redacted]  [Redacted] 
Head of the Scottish Government Office in China 
  
British Embassy I 11 Guanghua Lu I Beijing 100600 China 

Tel: [Redacted] I  Fax: (+86 10) 5192 4239 FTN: [Redacted] I Mobile: [Redacted] 
Follow us on  Weibo微博  

 
  
  
  
  
  
  

Follow us online: www.gov.uk/fcdo 
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From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Thursday, November 9, 2023 7:31 AM 
To: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@gov.scot>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Display for Pandas in China 
 
Hi David 
 
We are going to send our text to design company/printers tomorrow.   Could you let us know 
overnight if anything you’d like us to change?  
 
Re-attaching for ease.  Only update to the original version is to take our reference to ‘December’ to 
make it a bit more generic. 
 
Many thanks, and sorry to chase.  
 
[Redacted] 
 
From: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>  
Sent: 06 November 2023 16:49 
To: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]2@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted]@gov.scot; 
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
 
Ok – I will be back to you later today or first thing tomorrow.  
  
David Field 
Chief Executive Officer 

0131 314 0304   dfield@rzss.org.uk 

THE ROYAL ZOOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF SCOTLAND 

 

  
  
From: [Redacted] * <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>  
Sent: Monday, November 6, 2023 7:39 AM 
To: David Field <dfield@rzss.org.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted]@gov.scot; [Redacted] 
(External) <[Redacted]@gov.scot> 
Cc: [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] <[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted] 
<[Redacted]@fcdo.gov.uk>; [Redacted]@gov.scot 
Subject: Display for Pandas in China 
  
Hi David/ [Redacted] / [Redacted] [Redacted] 
  
I mentioned (I think) that we planned to have a display on the pandas’ return to China at the St 
Andrew’s Ball in Beijing on 25 November, and to coincide with the VIP visit.  



  
Before we go to print, please let us know if you’re content with the text in the attached.   
  
We’ve kept it short – the audience will be about 300 on the night.   We would also aim to use some 
of the same messaging in our SG Office social media (to a Chinese audience) to coincide with the 
return.   
  
We have focused on conservation and the positive influence of the pandas on raising peoples’ 
awareness about protecting protect biodiversity.   We wanted to also bring out that the impact will 
continue after the pandas return home to China.  
  
Grateful if you could let [Redacted]  and [Redacted], cc’d, have any suggested changes in the next 
couple of days.  We’ll then aim to finalise on Thursday, add in the pictures, and share with the design 
company to help produce the display. 
  
Many thanks 
  
[Redacted] 
  
[Redacted]   [Redacted] 
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
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Panda Display – St Andrew’s Ball Beijing, 2023 

• Draft text for display at St Andrew’s Ball in Beijing on 25 November during the VIP visit.  

• The display will be on a double/triple-sided stand. 

• It will sit in the ante-room of the ball.  The number of guests will be about 300.  

• In addition to information for guests, including VIPs from Chinese government (TBC), we may 

use the backdrop for a photo with the SG VIP to share on SG Office’s social media channels when 

the pandas return. 

• The text focuses on conservation and the positive influence of the pandas on raising peoples’ 

awareness about protecting protect biodiversity, the impact of which will continue after the 

pandas return home to China. 

• The display will be in both English and Chinese. 

Display 1 - Information on pandas return and conservation 

[1 to 2 sides of the display: info & 2-3 pictures] 

Giant Pandas at Edinburgh Zoo 

 

Pandas to Return Home to China in December  

Giant pandas Yang Guang and Tian Tian will return to China in December 2023 soon after twelve 

years at Edinburgh Zoo.  

Yang Guang and Tian Tian arrived in Scotland in December 2011 as part of a ten-year agreement 

between the Royal Zoological Society of Scotland (RZSS) and the China Wildlife Conservation 

Association (CWCA), which was extended by two years due to the pandemic.  

David Field, RZSS Chief Executive, said 

“With more than a million species at risk of extinction and our natural world in crisis, Yang Guang 

and Tian Tian have had an incredible impact by inspiring millions of people to care about nature. 

https://www.edinburghzoo.org.uk/news/article/20006/giant-panda-stay-at-edinburgh-zoo-extended-for-two-years/


Through scientific research alongside the University of Edinburgh, we have also made a significant 

contribution to our understanding of giant pandas, which will be of real benefit to efforts to protect 

this amazing species in China. 

 Our vision is of a world where nature is protected, valued and loved, which is why we have made an 

important pledge to reverse the decline of at least 50 species by 2030.” 

Giant Panda Conservation 

The RZSS-CWCA agreement in 2011 included a commitment to undertake specific projects in areas 

of mutual benefit in the fields of giant panda conservation, education and research.   Research areas 

included field ecology, genetic management, breeding and infant care, veterinary management and 

research, and cognitive evolution and behavioural research. 

Education is an important part of conservation work. A range of resources, Beyond the Panda, was 

designed and developed to enable learners and learning providers to investigate, study and explore 

a variety of topics within the overall context of giant pandas and China. 

Images Credit: The Royal Zoological Society of Scotland rzss.org.uk    

Scotland’s Approach to Protecting Biodiversity  

The Scottish Government has inter-linked targets to tackle the dual biodiversity-climate crisis: 

- a ‘just transition’ to net-zero by 2045, with an ambitious interim 2030 target of a 75% 
reduction in emissions.  A ‘just transition’ means lasting action to secure a net zero and 
climate resilient culture in a way that is fair and just for everyone. 

 
- a new biodiversity strategy with the goal of halting nature loss by 2030 and reversing it by 

2045, including a commitment to protect 30% of our land for nature by 2030. 
 

Through the 30x30 programme, the Scottish Government seeks to promote ecological restoration, 

and safeguard it at a scale never before seen in Scotland.  This needs a ‘whole of society’ approach. 

The pandas at Edinburgh Zoo connected millions of people with nature and inspired them to care 

about and protect biodiversity.  This will have a lasting impact, continuing long after the pandas 

return home. 

Display 2 - The Panda Card Project  

[1 slide, info + 4-5 pictures] 

To commemorate the final year of the Giant Pandas in Scotland, Confucius Institute for Scotland's 
Schools in the University of Strathclyde ran a Panda Card Project from April to June 2023.   
 
Pupils in Scotland designed goodbye cards for Yang Guang and Tian Tian, wishing them all the best 
for their journey and settling into life back home. 
 
Here is a selection of the wonderful card designs for Yang Guang and Tian Tian.  
 

http://www.rzss.org.uk/


We wish the pandas a safe journey.  Although we will miss them in Scotland they will continue to 
inspire us to care about nature.  
 

为纪念两只大熊猫阳光和甜甜在苏格兰的最后一年，思克莱德大学的苏格兰中小学孔院于

2023 年四月到六月开展了熊猫卡的项目，让苏格兰的学生们有机会为大熊猫设计告别卡，祝

愿他们旅途愉快，回家后生活顺利。 

感谢同学们为阳光和甜甜制作如此精美和充满爱心的卡片！下面是该项目的一些精选内容。 
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